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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH

ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE

STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to

accommodate companies to which a high investment

risk may be attached. In particular, companies list on

GEM with neither track record of profitability nor

any obl iga t ion forecas t  fu tur e prof i tab i l i ty .

Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the

emerging nature of companies listed on GEM and the

business sectors or countries in which the companies

operate. Prospective investors should be aware of

the potential risks of investing in such companies

and should make the decision to invest only after

due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile

and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a

market more suited to professional and other

sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on

GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM

may be more susceptible to high market volatility

than securities traded on the Main Board and no

assurance is given that there will be a liquid market

in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on

GEM is publication on the internet website operated

by the Exchange. Listed companies are not generally

required to issue paid announcements in gazetted

newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors should

note that they need to have access to the GEM website

in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM-

listed issuers.



Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 4

Review of Operations and Prospects 5

Directors and Senior Management 9

Report of the Directors 12

Report of the Auditors 29

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account 31

Consolidated Balance Sheet 32

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 33

Balance Sheet 34

Notes to the Financial Statements 35

Notice of Annual General Meeting 74

�� ! 2

�� !" 4

�� !"#$ 5

�� !"#$%& 9

�� !"# 12

�� !"# 29

�� !" 31

�� !"#$ 32

�� !"#$ 33

�� !" 34

�� !"# 35

�� !"#$% 74

CONTENTS
�=�

1Prosten Technology Holdings Limited 1999/2000 Annual Report



Corporate Information
� �  !

2 �� !"#$%&' 1999/2000 ��

�� !

�� !"�� !

�� !"

�� !"

�� !"

�� !"

�� !"

�� !"#$

James T. Siano��

�� !"

�� !"

Zephyr House
Mary Street
Georg Town
Grand Cayman
British West Indies

�� !"#$%&'(

��

�� !108�
�� !"#

906-910�

�� !"#!$

http://www.prosten.com

�� !"#

�� !"#AHKSA

�� !

�� !"

�� !

�� !"

�� !"

�� !

�� !ICSA, HKICS

�� !"#

�� !"#$%&'

��

�� !"183�
�� !40�

�� 

�� !"#$%

�� !"

��

��

�� 10�
�� !15�

Executive directors
Mr. Yip Seng Mun (Chairman)
Mr. Yip Heon Ping
Mr. Yip Heon Wai
Mr. Yip Heon Keung
Ms. Chan Fu Kuen, Gladys
Mr. Jonathan Wu

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. James T. Siano
Mr. Au Shing Kwok

Registered office
Zephyr House
Mary Street
George Town
Grand Cayman
British West Indies

Head office and principal place of business
Units 906-910
Dah Sing Financial Centre
108 Gloucester Road
Hong Kong

Company homepage/website
http://www.prosten.com

Qualified accountant
Mr. Kwok Chi Shan, AHKSA

Compliance officer
Mr. Yip Heon Keung

Authorised representatives
Mr. Yip Heon Keung
Ms. Chan Fu Kuen, Gladys

Company secretary
Chan Yim Kum, ICSA, HKICS

Principal banker
CITIC Ka Wah Bank Limited
40th Floor, COSCO Tower
183 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Auditors
Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
15th Floor
Hutchison House
10 Harcourt Road
Central
Hong Kong



Corporate Information
� �  !

3Prosten Technology Holdings Limited 1999/2000 Annual Report

�� !

�� !"

�� �� !"#$%

��

�� !1�
�� !41�

�� !"

�� !"#$%&'()

��

�� 

�� !448�
�� !15�

�� !"#$

Conyers Dill & Pearman, Cayman
Zephyr House
Mary Street
George Town
Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands
British West Indies

�� !"#$%&

Bank of Butterfield International
(Cayman) Limited

Butterfield House, Fort Street
P.O. Box 705, George Town
Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands
British West Indies

�� !"#$%&'(

�� !"#$

��

��

�� 10�
�� !1601�

�� 

�� !"#$%&'(

��

��

�� 1�
�� !26�

Legal advisers
as to Hong Kong law:
Chiu & Partners
41st Floor, Jardine House
1 Connaught Place
Hong Kong

as to PRC law:
Guangzhou Foreign Economic Law Office
15th Floor, Chengyue Plaza
448 Dongfeng Zhong Road
Guangzhou
The PRC

as to Cayman Islands law:
Conyers Dill & Pearman, Cayman
Zephyr House
Mary Sheet
George Town
Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands
British West Indies

Principal share registrar and transfer office
Bank of Butterfield International

(Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House, Fort Street
P.O. Box 705, George Town
Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands
British West Indies

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
Tengis Limited
Room 1601, Hutchison House
10 Harcourt Road
Central
Hong Kong

Sponsor
DBS Asia Capital Limited
26th floor, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central
Hong Kong



Chairman’s Statement
� �  !

4 �� !"#$%&' 1999/2000 ��

I am glad to present Prosten Technology Holdings

Limited’s first financial results following its listing on

the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong on 28 March 2000. The Group’s

performance for the year ended 31 March 2000 was

encouraging, recording 28% and 114% increase in

sales and net profit, respectively. The buoyant

telecommunication market in the PRC was one of the

key contributors to the performance. However, most

important of al l ,  the management ’s s t rategic

repositioning of the Group’s business a few years

ago has paved the way for the good result in the

financial year under review.

Looking ahead, I am optimistic about the Group’s

performance. In view of growing e-commerce activities

and usage of Internet services, the market for the

Group core businesses should continue to expand.

Having been operating in the PRC information

technology market for more than a decade and having

established good relationships with its customers and

technology providers, the Group is well placed to

take on any new business opportunities. The Group

has a very strong financial position after it raised

approximately HK$388 million in its new issue in

March 2000. This will provide sufficient resources for

the Group to implement its future expansion strategies.

Finally, I must take this opportunity to thank the

management team whose dedication and efforts have

made the listing a tremendous success and contributed

to the outstanding financial results.

Yip Seng Mun

Chairman

Hong Kong

29 June 2000
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During the period under review, the Group has

achieved significant growth in its revenues and net

profit. This is mainly attributable to favourable

developments in the PRC telecommunication market

and the Group’s strategy to focus on higher value-

added broadband network businesses.

Owing to increased demand for e-commerce and

Internet services, a number of local telecommunication

authorities in the PRC implemented programs to

expand their network capacity, in particular on the

broadband side. As a result, the Group’s broadband

data network and Internet backbone business

registered a 24% growth in sales.

In addition, the Group found that customers were

more willing to invest in e-commerce applications

and pay consultants for Internet solutions than before.

The directors believe that this is partly due to the

rapid increase in the number of Internet service

provider and Internet content provider in PRC. Also

there were more enterprises realized the importance

of a successful e-commerce strategy to their future

business prospects. The Group was able to capitalize

on these opportunities as it started to re-position

itself and develop its Internet Management System

(including user management, user authentication,

bil l ing and sett lement, stat ist ics and network

management) three years ago. Therefore its revenues

derived from application software and e-commerce/

IT consultancy services recorded increases by 33%

and thirteen times, respectively in the financial year

under review.

The Company obtained net proceeds of approximately

HK$363 million from the new issue of shares by way

of placing. As the proceeds was received just before

the balance sheet date, no proceeds was applied for

the intended uses during the period and all the above

net proceeds were placed on short term deposits

with financial institutions in Hong Kong at the balance

sheet date. However, approximately HK$7 million was

set aside for the acquisition of hardware and software

for setting up a broadband ISP in Hong Kong.
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BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS ACTUAL RESULTS

�� !"#$%&'() �� !

Broadband data networks and Internet backbone solutions
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1. Final testing of the application launching stage of Phase II Final testing completed

of the Yunan ATM/FR broadband network project.

��ATM�FR�� !"#$%&'()*+,-. �� !"#$

�� !"#

2. Final testing of the Hainan government’s online project of Final testing completed

combining the “163” and “169” Internet networks.

�� !"#$%&'163�� 169�� !!"!# �� !"#$

�� !"#$%

3. Bid for tender for development of e-commerce site under Tender submitted and results

the “179” project from a provincial PTA under MII. to be known soon
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Applications software development

�� !"#

1. Prepare for the completion of the development of network Preparation work completed

monitoring system which is an extended function of the IMS.
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2. Prepare for the completion and delivery of the IMS tailored IMS delivered satisfactorily

for Hainan province.

�� !"#$%&'()*+,IMS� IMS�� !"#

3. Finalise the trial run of the Internet Classified System Trial run finalised

�� !"#$%&'()*+, �� !"#

e-commerce solutions and related IT consultancy services
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1. Finalise feasibility study on the integration of the IMS for the Study finalised and results

future “179” project. satisfactorily
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Broadband ISP
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1. Commence order and purchase hardware for the proposed Order placed / hardware

broadband ISP to be set up in Hong Kong. installed
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BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS ACTUAL RESULTS
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Sales and marketing
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1. Identify premises for establishment of representative office Representative office
in Kunming, Yunnan province for development of the premises have been leased
south-western and southern market (including Sichuan)
of China.
�� !"#$%&'()*+",-./0123 �� !"#$%
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2. Identify appropriate office premises in Hong Kong to Hong Kong office has been
be leased for installation of equipment in connection leased and installation
with the Group’s launching of broadband ISP services, completed
which premises will also be used as the Group’s
functional headquarters in Hong Kong.
�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./012345 �� !"#$%&
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�� !"#$%&'()*+

3. Identify additional premises or rennovate existing Just signed agreement to lease
premises in Beijing to accommodate additional sales
and marketing staff to be employed.
�� !"#$!%&'()*!%+,-./0 �� !"#$%

�� !"#$%&'()*

Resources employment and administration
�� !"#$

1. Recruit additional technical staff for developing Already recruited
applications software in Guangzhou.
�� !"#$%&'()*+,- �� !

2. Recruit additional staff to carry out marketing and Already recruited
quality control functions.
�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./ �� !

3. Install demonstration laboratory in Guangzhou office Demonstration laboratory
to illustrate to customers the operation of e-commerce already installed
related software on the IBM platforms.
�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.&' IBM�� �� !"#$%
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4. Strengthen the administration and finance functions CFO and more accounting
in Hong Kong by recruiting additional experienced staff already on board
accounting staff.
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PROSPECTS

Apart from the rapid growth in the number of Internet

users in the PRC, China’s accession to the WTO is

expected to speed up enterprises’ e-commerce

activit ies. Also, the restructuring of the China

Telecommunication group last year, resulting in the

establishment of several new telecommunication

entities in the PRC, are expected to create additional

telecommunication network demand. All these macro

developments are favourable to the Group’s business

environment.

The Group has already been a leading broadband

data network solutions provider in the PRC and will

continue to expand to capture more market share. It

believes that e-commerce application softwares and

IT consulting services will be fast growing business

sectors in the industry and it will commit more

resources in an attempt to capitalize on the growth.

Since the Group’s listing in March 2000, it has already

recruited more than 30 staff with most of them in the

marketing and technical departments, on top of

existing 120 members. In addition, more of fices

including Nanjing and Wuhan have been set up in

the PRC to expand its sales network. In order to

strengthen its technical expertise, the Group has been

negotiating with several internationally reputable

technology providers and intends to team up with

them to develop business in the PRC.

Baring unforeseen circumstances, the Group expects

to achieve better revenues in the coming financial

year than that of last year.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Seng Mun, aged 69, is a founder and the
Chairman of the Group. He is responsible for
formulating the overall business strategy and plans
of the Group. Mr. Yip worked for Cable & Wireless
HKT for about 20 years and was one of the senior
executives in its PRC operations. Mr. Yip is the father
of Mr. Yip Heon Ping, Mr. Yip Heon Wai and Mr. Yip
Heon Keung.

Mr. Yip Heon Ping, aged 42, is an executive Director
and the General Manager of the Group in charge of
the Group’s overall management function. He holds
a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering from
Iowa State University, USA. He worked for Hewlett
Packard for more than 10 years before joining the
Group in December 1992. Mr. Yip is a son of Mr. Yip
Seng Mun and a brother of Mr. Yip Heon Wai and
Mr. Yip Heon Keung.

Mr. Yip Heon Wai, aged 39, is a founder and the
Managing Director of the Group in charge of the
overall corporate strategies and business development
of the Group. He holds a bachelor’s degree in applied
computer science from Illinois State University, USA.
He joined the Group in 1990 and has more than 12
years of experience in the information technology
industry. Mr. Yip is a son of Mr. Yip Seng Mun, the
sponse of Ms. Chan Fu Kuen, Gladys and a brother
of Mr. Yip Heon Ping and Mr. Yip Heon Keung.

Mr. Yip Heon Keung, aged 31, is an executive
Director of the Group in charge of strategic alliances
with vendors and business partners. He holds a
bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering from the
University Wisconsin-Madison, USA. Before joining
the Group, he worked in a software-consulting firm
as a consultant in the USA. He has more than seven
years’ experience in the information technology
industry and he has been with the Group since
October 1996. Mr. Yip is a son of Mr. Yip Seng Mun
and a brother of Mr. Yip Heon Ping and Mr. Yip
Heon Wai.

Ms. Chan Fu Kuen, Gladys, aged 37, is an executive
Director of the Company in charge of finance and
administration. She holds a bachelor’s degree in
sc i ence  and  a  mas te r  deg r ee  in  bus ines s
administration, both from Illinois State University, US.
She has more than six years’ experience in systems
development in the banking and telecommunications
industry and six years of experience in finance and
administration. She has been with the Group since
June 1993. Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Yip Heon
Wai.
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Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Jonathan Wu, aged 40, is an executive Director

of the Company and is responsible for managing the

technology and services division of the Group. He is

also responsible for the overall technology planning

of the PRC operations. He holds a bachelor’s degree

in mathematics and philosophy from the National

University of Singapore. He has over 17 years of

experience in the information technology industry in

Asia and the US, during which period he worked for

IBM for about 12 years performing primarily IT

consulting services. Mr. Wu joined the Group in

October 1998.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. James T. Siano, aged 40, was appointed as a

non-executive Director in March 2000. He holds a

master’s degree in business administration from Pace

University located in the US. He is the president and

the chief executive officer of Montblanc Pacific

Distributors Ltd. which is the Asia Pacific regional

headquarters for the Montblanc brand. Previously, Mr.

Siano was the managing director of Swatch Group of

Switzerland (Hong Kong) Ltd. Mr. Siano has 19 of

years’ experience in sales, marketing and finance,

including nine years in Hong Kong.

Mr. Au Shing Kwok, aged 59, was appointed as a

non-executive Director in March 2000. He obtained a

diploma in electr ical engineering from Royal

Melbourne Institute of Technology (Australia) and has

been a chartered engineer since 1980. He has been a

member of Institute of Engineers (Australia) since

1969. He works as a building services consulting

engineer and has been involved in the design and

project management of building services for a number

of major buildings in Hong Kong, the PRC and

overseas.
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Senior Management

Mr. Jacky Chiu is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Group and is in charge of the Group’s overall financial
matters. Jacky holds a master’s degree in business
from the United Kingdom and a master’s degree in
finance from Australia. He has been in the securities
and investment banking industry for 13 years and
hold senior positions in a locally-listed company and
international investment banks.

Dr. Clement Lau is the Vice President of the company
responsible for e-commerce solutions. Dr. Lau holds
a Ph.D. from Canada and has had over 10 years’
experience in the IT industry. Dr. Lau has over 9
years’ experience in the Asia market having worked
for Cray Research and Platform Computing before
joining the Group in May 2000.

Mr. Tung Man Chi, David is the Director of Product
Development of the Group responsible for the
development of Internet/Intranet based applications
and products. He is also responsible for the
infrastructure design and implementation of projects
in the telecommunications and utilities sectors. He
holds a bachelor’s degree in computer science from
the United Kingdom and is a chartered engineer and
a member of The Institution of Electrical Engineers,
United Kingdom. Prior to joining the Group in
February 2000, David worked for Cable and Wireless
HKT Limited for 12 years.

Mr. Kwok Chi Shan is the Qualified Accountant of
the Group and is in charge of the accounting
department of the Group. He holds a master of science
degree in financial economics from the United
Kingdom and is a fellow member of The Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants and an associate
member of Hong Kong Society of Accountants. He
has over 11 years’ experience in accounting and
finance.

Ms. Chan Yim Kum is the Company Secretary of the
Group and is in charge of the Group’s overall
company secretarial and administrative issues. She
holds a bachelor’s degree (honours) in business
administration from the United Kingdom and is a
member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administration and the Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries. She has more than 10 years’
experience in corporate administration.
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The directors herein present their first annual report

and the audited financial statements of the Company

and the Group, for the period from 22 November

1999 (date of incorporation of the Company) to 31

March 2000.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands

on 22 November 1999 as an exempted company with

limited liability under the Companies Law (1998

Revision) of the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to a

reorganisation scheme to rationalise the Group

structure in preparation for the l ist ing of the

Company’s shares on the Growth Enterprise Market

(“GEM”) operated by The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company

became the holding company of the Group on 7

March 2000 (the “Reorganisation”). Further details of

the Reorganisation, together with details of the

subsidiaries acquired pursuant thereto, are set out in

notes 1, 15 and 21 to the financial statements and in

the Company’s prospectus dated 21 March 2000.

The shares of the Company began trading on the

GEM of the Stock Exchange on 28 March 2000.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment

holding. Details of the principal activities of the

subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial

statements. There were no changes in the nature of

the Group’s principal activities during the period.

�� !"#$%&'(%)*+,---

�� !"�"#$%&'()*+#,-.

���� !"!#$%&'()*+ ,

�� !"#$%&

�� !

�� !"###$%"&'%'()*+

�� !"# (��� !"#$%&'()

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#$%&�'()*+,-./

�� !"#$%&'� ()*+,-.

�� !"#$%&'()*+��()#$,-

�� !"""#$%&'()*+,-.

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./� 

�� !"#$%&'()1�15�21�� !

�� !"""#$%!&'()*+,-

�� 

�� !"#$%%%&'($)*+,-

�� !"#$%&'

�� !

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.� 

�� !"#$%&'"()*+15�� !

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution

to profit from operating activities by principal activity

for the period ended 31 March 2000 is as follows:

Consolidated

For the period from Pro forma combined

22 November 1999 For the year ended

to 31 March 2000 31 March 2000

Contribution Contribution

to profit to profit

from from

operating operating

Turnover activities Turnover activities

��

���� �� !

�� !�!"# ��

���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !"

�� �� 

�� ! �� !

�� �� ! �� �� !

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� �� 

By principal activity: �� !"#$%

Provision of broadband �� !"#

data networks and �� !"�

Internet backbone �� !"#$

solutions 11,264 1,281 193,726 25,291

Provision of applications �� !"#

software – – 5,160 4,327

Provision of e-commerce �� !"#$%

solutions and related IT �� !"#$%

consultancy services �� !"#$ 2,717 2,549 7,880 4,797

13,981 3,830 206,766 34,415

�� !

�� !!!"#$#%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$%&'"()*'"#+,

�� !"
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Consolidated

For the period from Pro forma combined

22 November 1999 For the year ended

to 31 March 2000 31 March 2000

Contribution Contribution

to profit to profit

from from

operating operating

Turnover activities Turnover activities

��

���� �� !

�� !�!"# ��

���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !"

�� �� 

�� ! �� !

�� �� ! �� �� !

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� �� 

By geographical area: �� !"#

People’s Republic of China �� !"#$

(“PRC”): �� !"#$

Hong Kong �� 2,717 2,549 2,717 2,212

Elsewhere �� ! 11,264 1,281 204,049 32,203

13,981 3,830 206,766 34,415

�� !�� 

The basis of presentation of the Group’s turnover

and contribution to profit from operating activities

for the period from 22 November 1999 to 31 March

2000 and the Group’s pro forma combined turnover

and contribution to profit from operating activities

for the year ended 31 March 2000 is set out in note 1

to the financial statements.

�� !"###$%"&'%'()'*

��� ! "#$%&'()*+,-)

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

���� ! "#$%�&'()*+,

�� !"�#$%&'()*+,-./

�� !"1�
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the period ended 31 March

2000 and the state of affairs of the Company and the

Group at that date are set out in the financial

statements on pages 31 to 73.

Prosten Technology Co. Limited, a subsidiary of the

Company, paid a special dividend of HK$20,000,000

on 1 June 1999 to its then shareholders prior to the

Reorganisation and the listing of the Company’s shares

on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a

final dividend in respect of the period.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands

on 22 November 1999 and became the ultimate

holding company of the companies now comprising

the Group as a result of the Reorganisation which

became effective on 7 March 2000. Accordingly, the

only balance sheet of the Group that has been

prepared is that set out in the financial statements on

page 32.

To ensure consistency of presentation and for

comparison purposes, the pro forma combined results

for the three years ended 31 March 2000 presented

below include the results of the Company and its

subsidiaries with effect from 1 April 1997 or since

their respective dates of incorporation/establishment,

where this is a shorter period, on the basis that the

current group structure had been in existence

throughout the said period.

�� !"

�� !"#$$$%&'&()*+,-

�� !"#$%"&'()*�+,-.

�� 31��73�� !"#$%

�� !"#� $%&'()� *+,

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

� � � �  ! " � # $ % & ' ( )
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�� !"#
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�� !"#$%&'((()*+,-.

�� !"#$%&'(!)*+,-./

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.32��

�� !"#$%&!'

�� !"#$�%&'()*+,-./

�� !"#$%&'() * !+,-
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�� !�"#$%&'()*+�,-.(
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(continuted)

Pro forma combined results

�� !"#�� 

�� !"#

Year ended 31 March

�� ! "#$%&'

2000 1999 1998

���� ���� ��� !

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

TURNOVER �� 206,766 161,133 119,018

PROFIT BEFORE TAX �� !" 34,415 17,496 8,455

Tax �� (2,179) (2,492) (1,725)

NET PROFIT FROM �� !"#

ORDINARY ACTIVITIES �� !"#

ATTRIBUTABLE TO

SHAREHOLDERS 32,236 15,004 6,730

�� !

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-%./

�� !14�

�� !

�� !"#� $%&'()*+,"-

15�

��

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-18�

19�

�� !�"

�� !�"#$%&'()*+,-.*

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

21�

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Group

during the period are set out in note 14 to the financial

statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out

in note 15 to the financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in

notes 18 and 19 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital

during the period, together with reasons therefor,

and details of the Company’s share option scheme

are set out in note 21 to the financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company

and the Group during the period are set out in note

22 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2000, the Company’s reserves available

for distribution, calculated in accordance with the

Companies Law (1998 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,

amounted to HK$338,987,000. This includes the

Company’s share premium account, in the amount of

HK$339,275,000 at 31 March 2000, which may also

be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under

the Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of

the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which

the Company was incorporated, which would oblige

the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis

to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED

SECURITIES

Other than in connection with the Company’s initial

public offering by way of placement, neither the

Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed

securities during the period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

On a pro forma combined basis, in the year under

review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers

accounted for 72% of the total sales for the year and

sales to the largest customer included therein amounted

to 24%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest

suppliers accounted for 85% of the total purchases for

the year and purchases from the largest supplier

included therein amounted to 47%.

��

�� !�"#$%&'()$*+,-.

�� !"#$22�

�� !"#

��   !"#"$%&'()*+,-

�� !"##$%&'()*+,(��-

�� !"#$338,987,000�� !"#$

�� !"#$%&'()))*+,+-

�� !"#339,275,000�� !"#$%&

�� !"#$%&'

�� !"

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-�� 

�� !"#$%&'($)*+,-./

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#$ %&

�� !�"#$%&'(

�� !"#$%&'()*+",-./

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.'(

�� !"#!$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#$%
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

(continued)

To the best knowledge of the directors, neither the

directors, their associates, nor any shareholders who

owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share

capital, had any beneficial interest in any of the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during

the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company since 22 November

1999 and at the date of this annual report were as

follows:

Executive directors:

Mr. Yip Seng Mun

(appointed on 22 November 1999)

Mr. Yip Heon Ping

(appointed on 22 November 1999)

Mr. Yip Heon Wai

(appointed on 22 November 1999)

Mr. Yip Heon Keung

(appointed on 22 November 1999)

Ms. Chan Fu Kuen, Gladys

(appointed on 22 November 1999)

Mr. Jonathan Wu

(appointed on 22 November 1999)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. James T. Siano

(appointed on 7 March 2000)

Mr. Au Shing Kwok

(appointed on 7 March 2000)

In accordance with Articles 111 and 112 of the

Company’s Articles of Association , all directors will

retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The independent non-executive directors are not

appointed for specific terms but are subject to

retirement by rotation in accordance with the

Company’s Articles of Association.

�� !"#$%�� 

�� !"#$� %&'()*+,-./

�� !"#$�%5%�� !"#$%&

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0
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�� !"#$%
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company

and of the senior management of the Group are set

out on pages 9 to 11 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a

service contract with the Company for an initial term

of three years commencing from 1 March 2000 which

will continue thereafter until terminated by not less

than three months’ notice in writing served by either

party on the other. Such notice shall not expire until

after the fixed term.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for

re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting

has a service contract with the Company which is

not determinable by the Company within one year

without payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a significant beneficial interest, either

direct or indirect, in any contract of significance to

the business of the Group to which the Company or

any of its subsidiaries, its holding company, or any

of its fellow subsidiaries was a party during the period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group

are set out in note 5 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Consolidated

For the

period from Pro forma combined

22 November For the For the

1999 to year ended year ended

31 March 31 March 31 March

2000 2000 1999

��

���� 

�� �� !

��� ! ��

���� ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Fees: �� 

Executive directors �� ! – – –

Independent �� !"#$

non-executive directors – – –

Other emoluments of �� !"

executive directors: �� !"

Basic salaries, other allowances �� !"#$%&

and benefits in kind �� !" 335 2,098 1,201

Discretionary bonus �� ! – 310 –

335 2,408 1,201

�� !"#$%&' ()

�� !"#$%&'()*+++,-.

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#��$%&'404,000�� !"

��� 429,000�� !50,000�� !"""

�� !"#$329,000�� !"""#$

176,000�� !333,000�� !"""#$%

�� !331,000�� !"""#$286,000�

�� 961,000�� !"""#$310,000�

�� 

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !

On a pro form combined basis, there were six

executive directors receiving individual emoluments of

approximately HK$404,000 (1999: HK$429,000),

HK$50,000 (1999: Nil), HK$329,000 (1999: HK$176,000),

HK$333,000 (1999:  Ni l ) ,  HK$331,000 (1999:

HK$286,000) and HK$961,000 (1999: HK$310,000) for

the year ended 31 March 2000.

During the period, no emoluments were paid by the

Group to the independent non-executive directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS  (continuted)

The number of directors whose remuneration fell

within the following bands is as follows:

Consolidated

For the

period from Pro forma combined

22 November For the For the

1999 to year ended year ended

31 March 31 March 31 March

2000 2000 1999

��

���� 

�� �� !

��� ! �� ��

���� ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

Number of Number of Number of

directors directors directors

�� ! �� ! �� !

Nil to HK$1,000,000 ��1,000,000�� 8 8 6

There was no arrangement under which a director

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the period.

During the period, no emoluments were paid by the

Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or

upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss

of office.

The five highest paid individuals included 3 directors

during the period, whose remuneration are set out

above.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS  (continuted)

The emoluments and designated band of the remaining

2 highest paid, non-director individuals during the

period are as follows:

Consolidated

For the

period from Pro forma combined

22 November For the For the

1999 to year ended year ended

31 March 31 March 31 March

2000 2000 1999

��

���� 

�� �� !

��� ! �� ��

���� ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Basic salaries, other allowances �� !"#$%&

and benefits in kind �� !" 118 899 1,701

Discretionary bonus �� ! – – 634

118 899 2,335

The remuneration of the non-director, highest paid

employees during the period fell within the range of

Nil to HK$1,000,000.

The Group does not have a pension scheme for either

its directors or its employees in Hong Kong. In the

opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group

had no significant obligations for long service

payments  to i t s  employees pursuant  to the

requirements under the Employment Ordinance,

Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong, at 31 March

2000.

�� !"#$%&' ()�� 

�� !2�� !"#$%&'()*"+

�� !"#$%

�� !"#$%&'()$*+,-.#

�� !"#$%1,000,000�� 

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./57�

�� !"#$%&'()*+++,-.

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� 



Report of the Directors
� �  ! " #

23Prosten Technology Holdings Limited 1999/2000 Annual Report

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 March 2000, the interests of the directors and

their associates in the share capital of the Company

or its associated corporations, as recorded in the

register maintained by the Company pursuant to

Section 29 of the Securities (Disclosure of Interests)

Ordinance (the “SDI Ordinance”), were as follows:

Number of issued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

in the Company held and nature of interest

Name of director Notes Personal Family Corporate Other Total

�� !"#$%&MKNM�� 

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� �� �� �� �� ��

Mr. Yip Heon Ping �� !" (1) – – – 404,280,619 404,280,619

Mr. Yip Seng Mun �� !" (2) – – – 404,280,619 404,280,619

Mr. Yip Heon Wai �� !" (2) – – – 404,280,619 404,280,619

Mr. Yip Heon Keung �� !" (2) – – – 404,280,619 404,280,619

Notes:

(1) These shares are held by Greenford Company
Limited, Century Technology Holding Limited and
Bakersfield Global Corporation as trustees of The
Greenford Unit Trust, The Century Unit Trust and
The Bakersfield Unit Trust, respectively, all the units
of which are held by HSBC International Trustee
Limited as trustee of The New Millennium Trust, a
discretionary family trust established with Mr. Yip
Heon Ping as the discretionary object for the time
being.

(2) Mr. Yip Seng Mun, Mr. Yip Heon Ping, Mr. Yip
Heon Wai and Mr. Yip Heon Keung belong to the
same family and are together entitled to control the
composition of a majority of the board of directors
of the Company. By virtue of the association with
Mr. Yip Heon Ping, each of Mr. Yip Seng Mun, Mr.
Yip Heon Wai and Mr. Yip Heon Keung has also
declared his interests in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2000, none of

the directors or their associates had any personal,

family, corporate or other interest in the issued share

capital of the Company or any of its associated

corporations, as defined in the SDI Ordinance.

�� !"#$%&
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�� 

(1) �� !"Greenford Company Limited�
Century Technology Holding Limited�
Bakersfield Global Corporation� The
Greenford Unit Trust�The Century Unit
Trust�The Bakersfield Unit Trust�� 
� �  ! "#$ " % & ' ( HSBC
International Trustee Limited�The New
Millennium Trust�� !"#$%&'
The New Millennium Trust�� !"#
�� !"#$%&'()*+,-#$
�� 

(2) �� !"#�$%!"#�$&!"'�
�� !"#$%&'()#*+,-.
�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./*
�� !"#�$ !%&'#�( !
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

DEBENTURES

Under the terms of a share option scheme (the

“Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 7 March 2000,

the board of directors is authorised, at its absolute

discretion, to grant options to employees, including

executive directors of the Company or any of its

subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

Further details of the share option scheme are set

out in note 21 to the financial statements. The Scheme

became effective upon the listing of the Company’s

shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 28

March 2000. No options had been granted to any

director or employee under the Scheme up to the

balance sheet date.

Apart from the foregoing, and other than in connection

with the Reorganisation in preparation for the

Company’s initial public offering by way of placement,

at no time during the period was the Company or

any of its subsidiaries, its holding company, or any

of its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement

to enable the Company’s directors, their respective

spouse, or children under 18 years of age to acquire

benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or

debentures of the Company or any other body

corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2000, the following interest of 10% or more

in the issued share capital of the Company recorded in

the register of interests pursuant to Section 16(1) of

the SDI Ordinance:

�� !

��   !"#"$%&'()*+,-

�� !10%�� !"#$%&'"#(

��16(1�� !"#$% &'(

Name Number of shares

�� �� !

Greenford Company Limited 155,931,035

Century Technology Holding Limited 155,931,035

Bakersfield Global Corporation 92,418,549

HSBC International Trustee Limited (Notes 1 and 2)�� 1�2� 404,660,619

Notes:

(1) Out of the 404,660,619 shares, an aggregate of

404,280,619 shares are held through Greenford

Company Limited, Century Technology Holding

Limited and Bakersfield Global Corporation as

trustees of the Greenford Unit Trust, The Century

Uni t  T rus t  and The Bakers f ie ld Uni t  Trus t ,

respectively, all the units of which are held by HSBC

International Trustee Limited as trustee of The New

Millennium Trust, a discretionary trust established

with Mr. Yip Heon Ping as the discretionary object

for the time being.

(2) HSBC International Trustee Limited is a wholly owned

subsidiary within the HSBC Group in which HSBC

Investment Bank Holdings B.V., HSBC Holdings B.V.,

HSBC Finance (Netherlands) and HSBC Holdings plc

are members and have reported their deemed interests

in the shares as disclosed by HSBC International

Trustee Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no persons, other than the

directors of the Company, whose interests are set out

above, had registered an interest in the share capital

of the Company that was required to be recorded under

Section 16(1) of the SDI Ordinance.
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PENSION SCHEME AND COSTS

The Group does not provide any provident fund or

other similar pension scheme for its employees in Hong

Kong. Employees in the PRC are enrolled in the

mandatory central pension scheme operated by the PRC

government. Details of the pension scheme of the

Group and the employer’s pension costs charged to

the profit and loss account for the period are set out in

notes 4 and 7 to the financial statements, respectively.

THE YEAR 2000 ISSUE

The Year 2000 problem arose primarily because

computer data storage was expensive in the past and,

consequently, most system engineers tended to use

only two digits to represent the period in databases

so as to save storage space. As technology advanced,

the production cost of data storage space decreased

and hence the more recently developed products in

the market are typically fully Year 2000 compliant.

The Group’s sale of computer hardware and software

products are made according to specifications which

are agreed to by the customers. Where the need has

arisen, the Group has upgraded its products so that

they are Year 2000 compliant. The Group has not

encountered any difficulty in providing upgrade

services to its customers. The Group is not responsible

for products that it distributes which are not Year 2000

compliant if the customers did not specify that they be

so. In any event, because the warranty of products is

provided by the Group’s suppliers, if the products

distributed by the Group fail to be Year 2000 compliant,

the Group will not assume any risk in this respect and

it should be protected by a back-to-back indemnity

from its suppliers who will be responsible for the

potential liabilities.
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THE YEAR 2000 ISSUE (continued)

The Group’s internal computer systems are primarily

used for office automation only and do not contain

mission critical applications. Therefore any Year 2000

problems would have had only a minimal impact on

the Group’s operations. The Group conducted an

assessment on its internal computer systems and

confirmed that its internal computer systems were

Year 2000 compliant.

The Group co-ordinated a Year 2000 contingency plan

which mainly included the saving of back-up copies

of all computer files and the maintenance of a

systematic filing of hard copies of relevant documents.

The Group had not experienced any major Year 2000

problems at the date of this report.

SPONSORS’ INTERESTS

As updated and notified by the Company’s sponsor,

DBS Asia Capital Limited (“DBS”), as at 31 March

2000 and 29 June 2000, respectively, neither DBS nor

its directors nor employees, had any interest in the

share capital of the Company.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 21 March 2000

entered with the Company, DBS received, and will

receive, fees for acting as the Company’s retained

sponsor for the period from 1 April 2000 to 31 March

2002.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company set up an Audit Committee (the

“Committee”) on 7 March 2000 with written terms of

reference for the purpose of reviewing and providing

supervision over of the financial reporting process

and internal control of the Group. The Committee

comprises two independent non-executive directors.

The Group’s financial statements for the period ended

31 March 2000 have been reviewed by the Committee,

who were of the opinion that such statements

complied with the applicable accounting standards,

the Stock Exchange and legal requirements, and that

adequate disclosures had been made.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their

reappointment as auditors of the Company will be

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Yip Seng Mun

Chairman

Hong Kong

29 June 2000
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To the members

PROSTEN TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages

31 to 73 which have been prepared in accordance

with the basis of presentation as set out in note 1 to

the financial statements.

R E S P E C T I V E  R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S  O F

DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Company’s directors are responsible for the

preparation of financial statements which give a true

and fair view. In preparing financial statements which

give a true and fair view it is fundamental that

appropriate accounting policies are selected and

applied consistently. It is our responsibility to form

an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those

statements and to report our opinion to you.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements

of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong

Society of Accountants. An audit includes an

examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to

the amounts and disclosures in the f inancial

statements. It also includes an assessment of the

significant estimates and judgements made by the

directors in the preparation of the financial statements,

and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate

to the Company’s and the Group’s circumstances,

consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

�� !"#$%&'(
�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !

�� !"#$%�&'(31�� 73��

�� !"#$1�� !"#$%& '

�� !

�� !"#$%&'(

�� !"#$%&'()*+�,!-.

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-��./

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#$%&'(�)*+,-./

�� !"#$%&'()*+,!"�-.

�� !"

�� !"#$%&'(!)'*+,� 

�� !"#$%&"#'()*+,-.

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#$%&'()* +,"-&

�� !"#  �� !   �� !"#$

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0



Report of the Auditors
� �  ! " #

30 �� !"#$%&' 1999/2000 ��

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain

all the information and explanations which we

considered necessary in order to provide us with

sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to

whether the financial statements are free from material

misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated

the overall adequacy of the presentation of information

in the financial statements. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements, prepared on

the basis set out in note 1 to the financial statements,

give a true and fair view, in all material respects, of

the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group

as at 31 March 2000 and of the consolidated profit

and cash flows of the Group for the period from 22

November 1999 (date of incorporation of the

Company) to 31 March 2000 and of the pro forma

combined profit of the Group for the year ended 31

March 2000 and have been properly prepared in

accordance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

29 June 2000
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Consolidated Pro forma combined
�� �� !

For the (Note 1)

period from �� 1�
22 November

1999 to For the For the
31 March year ended year ended

2000 31 March 31 March

���� 2000 1999
�� !�!" �� ��

��   ! ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
�� �� �� �� 

TURNOVER �� 6 13,981 206,766 161,133

Cost of sales �� ! (7,983) (141,296) (118,729)

Gross profit �� 5,998 65,470 42,404

Other revenue �� ! 471 1,210 529

Distribution costs �� ! (244) (2,923) (3,112)
Administrative expenses �� ! (2,334) (28,597) (21,504)

PROFIT FROM �� !

OPERATING ��

ACTIVITIES 7 3,891 35,160 18,317

Finance costs �� ! 8 (61) (745) (821)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX �� !" 3,830 34,415 17,496

Tax �� 10 (410) (2,179) (2,492)

NET PROFIT FROM �� !

ORDINARY �� !

ACTIVITIES ��

ATTRIBUTABLE
TO SHAREHOLDERS 11 3,420 32,236 15,004

Dividends �� 12 – (20,000) (13,000)

RETAINED PROFIT FOR �� !

THE PERIOD �� 22 3,420 12,236 2,004

EARNINGS PER SHARE �� ! 13
Basic �� HK1.3 cents HK7.6 cents HK3.5 cents

Other than the net profit for the period attributable to
shareholders, the Group had no recognised gains or

losses. Accordingly, a Consolidated Statement of
Recognised Gains and Losses is not presented in the

financial statements.

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-./0

�� !"#$%#&'()*+,-./�

�� !"#



Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 March 2000 � �  ! " # $

���� !"!#$%

32 �� !"#$%&' 1999/2000 ��

Pro forma
combined

(Note 1)
Consolidated �� !

�� �� 1�
2000 1999

���� ���� 
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
�� �� �� 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS �� !"
Fixed assets �� ! 14 11,614 1,355

CURRENT ASSETS �� !
Inventories �� 16 2,645 1,333
Trade receivables �� ! 60,777 19,914
Bills receivable �� ! 3,829 26,913
Prepayments, deposits �� !"#$

and other receivables �� !"#$ 3,974 1,984
Tax recoverable �� !" 27 97
Due from a director �� ! 17 – 17,158
Pledged time deposits �� !"#$ 10,766 2,193
Cash and bank balances �� !"#$ 371,248 16,910

453,266 86,502

CURRENT LIABILITIES �� !
Trade payables �� ! 42,101 35,854
Bills payable �� ! 16,735 20,966
Tax payable �� ! 2,569 1,038
Accrued liabilities, deposits �� !"#$%&

received and other payables �� !"#$ 9,198 5,156
Interest-bearing bank loan, secured �� �!"#$% 18 – 7,488
Finance lease payables �� !"# 19 – 164

70,603 70,666

NET CURRENT ASSETS �� !"# 382,663 15,836

TOTAL ASSETS LESS �� !"
CURRENT LIABILITIES �� ! 394,277 17,191

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY �� !"
Deferred tax �� ! 20 457 102

393,820 17,089

CAPITAL AND RESERVES �� !"
Share capital �� 21 51,125 10,845
Reserves �� 22 342,695 6,244

393,820 17,089

Yip Heon Wai �� Yip Heon Keung �� 
Director �� Director ��
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Notes HK$’000
�� �� 

NET CASH INFLOW FROM �� !"#

OPERATING ACTIVITIES �� !"# 23(a) 1,731

RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS �� !"#�$%

AND SERVICING OF FINANCE �� !

Interest received �� ! 471
Interest paid �� ! (61)

Net cash inflow from �� !"#$

returns on investments �� !"

and servicing of finance �� ! 410

TAX �� –

INVESTING ACTIVITIES �� !

Acquisition of subsidiaries �� !"# 23(c) 13,366

Net cash inflow from �� !"#

investing activities �� !"# 13,366

NET CASH INFLOW BEFORE �� !"#

FINANCING ACTIVITIES �� ! 15,507

FINANCING ACTIVITIES �� !

Proceeds from issue �� !

of share capital �� ! 23(b) 388,125
Share issue expenses �� !"#$ 23(b) (21,618)

Net cash inflow from �� !"

financing activities �� !"# 366,507

INCREASE IN CASH AND �� ��!

CASH EQUIVALENTS �� !" 382,014

Cash and cash equivalents �� !"#

at beginning of period �� !" –

CASH AND CASH �� !"

EQUIVALENTS AT �� 

END OF PERIOD �� 382,014

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES �� ��!

OF CASH AND CASH �� !

EQUIVALENTS ��

Cash and bank balances �� !"#$ 382,014

382,014
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Notes HK$’000

�� �� 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS �� !"

Interests in subsidiaries �� !"#$% 15 393,899

CURRENT ASSET �� !

Cash and bank balances �� !"#$ 65

CURRENT LIABILITIES �� !

Accrued liabilities �� !"#$

and other payables �� ! 3,852

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES �� !"# (3,787)

390,112

CAPITAL AND RESERVES �� !"

Share capital �� 21 51,125

Reserves �� 22 338,987

390,112

Yip Heon Wai Yip Heon Keung

Director Director
�� �� 

�� ��
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1. GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman

Islands on 22 November 1999 as an exempted

company with limited liability under the

Companies Law (1998 Revision) of the Cayman

Islands. Pursuant to a reorganisation scheme

to rationalise the structure of the Group in

preparation for the public listing of its shares

in March 2000 (the “Reorganisation”), the

Company became the holding company of the

companies now comprising the Group (as

detailed in note 15) on 7 March 2000. This

was accomplished by acquiring the entire

issued share capital of Prosten (BVI) Limited

(“Prosten (BVI)”) in consideration of and in

exchange for the Company’s allotted and issued

sha r e  cap i t a l .  Fu r the r  de ta i l s  o f  the

Reorganisation and of the subsidiaries acquired

pursuant thereto are set out in notes 21 and

15 to the financial statements, respectively, and

in the Company’s prospectus dated 21 March

2000.

The Group’s financial statements are presented

using the following bases:

i. The consolidated profit and loss account

includes the results of the Company for

the period from 22 November 1999 (date

of incorporation of the Company) to 31

March 2000 and the post-acquisition

results of its subsidiaries for the period

from 7 March 2000 (date of completion

of the Reorganisation) to 31 March 2000,

in accordance with the new Hong Kong

Statement of Standard Accounting

Practice (“HKSSAP”) 27 “Accounting for

group reconstructions”, as referred to in

note 3.
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1. GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

ii. For information purposes, the pro forma

combined profit and loss accounts for

the two years ended 31 March 2000

include the results of the Company and

its subsidiaries with effect from 1 April

1998 or since their respective dates of

incorporation/establishment, where this

is a shorter period, on a combined basis

as if the current Group structure had

been in existence throughout the two

years ended 31 March 2000.

iii. The consolidated balance sheet as at 31

March 2000 is prepared based on the

current Group structure which was in

place at that date, and for information

purposes the comparative amounts for

31 March 1999 have been prepared on

a combined basis as if the current Group

structure had been in place at that date.

iv. The consolidated cash flow statement

of the Group includes the cash flows of

the Company for the period from 22

November 1999 (date of incorporation

of the Company) to 31 March 2000 and

the post-acquisition cash flows of its

subsidiaries for the period from 7 March

2000 (date of  complet ion of  the

Reorganisation) to 31 March 2000. A

comparative consolidated cash flow

statement is not presented because the

Group did not exist at that date.
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1. GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Although the reorganised Group structure did

not legally exist until 7 March 2000, the

directors consider that it is appropriate to

present pro forma combined profit and loss

accounts and a pro forma combined balance

sheet on the bases as set out in notes (ii) &

(iii) above since the principal activities of the

Group were carried out by those subsidiaries

summarised in note 15 prior to, and after the

completion of the Reorganisation.

The Company was incorporated on 22

November 1999, accordingly no comparative

amounts for 1999 have been presented for the

Company’s balance sheet.

2. CORPORATE INFORMATION

During the period, the Group was involved in

the provision of broadband data networks and

Internet backbone solutions, applications

software, e-commerce solutions and related IT

consultancy services.

3. IMPACT OF REVISED AND NEW HONG KONG

STATEMENTS OF STANDARD ACCOUNTING

PRACTICE (“SSAPs”)

Since the issue of the Company’s prospectus

on 21 March 2000, the following SSAPs have

been adopted for the f i rs t  t ime in the

preparation of the current period’s consolidated

financial statements, together with a summary

of their major effects.

• HKSSAP 1: Presentation of financial

statements

• HKSSAP 27: Account ing for  g roup

reconstructions
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3. IMPACT OF REVISED AND NEW HONG KONG

STATEMENTS OF STANDARD ACCOUNTING

PRACTICE (“SSAPs”) (continued)

HKSSAP 1 prescr ibes the basis for the

presentation of financial statements and sets

out guidelines for their structure and minimum

requirements for the content thereof. The

formats of the profit and loss account and the

balance sheets as set out on pages 31, 32 and

34, respect ively ,  have been r evised in

accordance with the HKSSAP. Additional

disclosures as required are included in the

supporting notes thereto.

HKSSAP 27 specifies the conditions whereby a

group reconstruction should be accounted for

using the merger basis of accounting or in

other circumstances using the acquisition

method of accounting. For these financial

s tatements,  as further explained in the

accounting policy note below, acquisition

accounting has been adopted as the basis of

consolidation.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared

in accordance with Hong Kong Statements of

Standard Accounting Practice, accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong

and the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been

prepared under the historical cost convention.

PK �� !"#$%&'()

�� !"#$� %&'()

�� 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include

the financial statements for the period ended

31 March 2000. The results of subsidiaries

acquired or disposed of during the period are

consolidated from or to their effective dates of

acquisition or disposal, respectively.

All significant intercompany transactions and

balances wi th in the Group have been

eliminated on consolidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is a company in which the

Company, directly or indirectly, controls more

than half of its voting power or issued share

capital, or controls the composition of its board

of directors.

Interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost unless,

in the opinion of the directors, there have been

permanent diminutions in values, when they

are written down to values determined by the

directors.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the consolidation of

subsidiaries represents the excess purchase

consideration paid over the fair values ascribed

to the net underlying assets acquired and is

eliminated against reserves in the period of

acquisition.

On the disposal of subsidiaries, the relevant

portion of attributable goodwill previously

eliminated against reserves is written back and

included in the calculation of the gain or loss

on disposal.

QK �� !"#$��� 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that

the economic benefits will flow to the Group

and when the revenue can be measured

reliably, on the following bases:

(a) on the sa le  o f  goods ,  when the

s ign i f i can t  r i sks  and rewards  o f

ownership have been transferred to the

buyer, provided that the Group maintains

neither managerial involvement to the

deg ree  u sua l l y  a s soc i a t ed  w i th

ownership, nor effective control over the

goods sold;

(b) installation, system development and

system design service income, when the

relevant services have been rendered;

and

(c) interest income, on a time proportion

basis taking into account the principal

outstanding and the effective interest rate

applicable.

QK �� !"#$��� 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fixed assets and depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation. The cost of an asset comprises

its purchase price and any directly attributable

costs of bringing the asset to its working

condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after the fixed assets have

been put into operation, such as repairs and

maintenance, is normally charged to the profit

and loss account in the period in which it is

incurred. In situations where it can be clearly

demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted

in an increase in the future economic benefits

expected to be obtained from the use of the

fixed asset, the expenditure is capitalised as

an additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line

basis to write off the cost of each asset over

its estimated useful life. The principal annual

rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 30% or over the lease terms,

whichever is shorter

Office equipment 30%

Computer equipment 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Motor vehicles 30%

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of a

fixed asset recognised in the profit and loss

account is the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the

relevant asset.

QK �� !"#$��� 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leased assets

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards

and risks of ownership of assets to the Group,

other than legal title, are accounted for as

finance leases. At the inception of a finance

lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised

at the present value of the minimum lease

payments and is recorded together with the

obligation, excluding the interest element, to

reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held

under capitalised finance leases are included

in fixed assets and are depreciated over the

shorter of the lease terms and the estimated

useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of

such leases are charged to the profit and loss

account so as to provide a constant periodic

rate of charge over the lease terms.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and

risks of ownership of assets remain with the

lessor are accounted for as operating leases.

Rentals applicable to such operating leases are

charged to the profit and loss account on the

straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and

net  r ea l i sable va lue a f ter  making due

allowances for obsolete and slow moving items.

Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis.

Net realisable value is based on the estimated

selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred on disposal.

QK �� !"#$��� 

�� !

�� !"#�$%&'()*+'

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$ %&'() !$*

�� !"#$%&'(�)*+,

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.

�� !"#$%&'()*+(,

�� !"#$%&'()*+%'

�� !"#�$%&'()*+,

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.

�� !"#$%&'()#*+

��

�� !

�� !"#$ %&'()*+,

�� !"#$%&'()*+%&

�� !�"#$%&'()*+,

�� 

��

�� !"#$%&'(#)*+,

�� !"#$!"%&'()*+

�� !"#$%&'()*)+,

�� !"#$%&'()*+,*

�� !"#$%&'(&)*



Notes to Financial Statements
31 March 2000 � �  ! " #

���� !"!#$%

43Prosten Technology Holdings Limited 1999/2000 Annual Report

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability

method, on all significant timing differences to

the extent that it is probable that the liability

will crystallise in the foreseeable future. A

deferred tax asset is not recognised until its

realisation is assured beyond reasonable doubt.

Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at

the applicable rates of exchange ruling at the

transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies at the

balance sheet date are translated at the

applicable rates of exchange ruling at that date.

Exchange differences are dealt with in the profit

and loss account.

On consolidation, the financial statements of

overseas subsidiaries are translated to Hong

Kong dollars at the applicable rates of exchange

ruling at the balance sheet date. The resulting

translation dif ferences are included in the

exchange fluctuation reserve.

Pension costs

The Group has joined a mandatory central

pension scheme organised by the PRC

government for its PRC employees, the assets

of which are held separately from those of the

Group. Contributions made are based on a

percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries

and are charged to the profit and loss account

as they become payable, in accordance with

the rules of the scheme. The employers’

contributions vest fully once they are made.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party

has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control

the other party, or exercise significant influence

over the other party in making financial and

operating decisions. Parties are also considered

to be related if they are subject to common

control or common significant influence.

Related parties may be individuals or corporate

entities.

Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents represent short term highly

liquid investments which are readily convertible

into known amounts of cash and which were

within three months of maturity when acquired,

less advances from banks repayable within

three months from the date of the advance.

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the fol lowing mater ia l

transactions with related parties during the

period:

(i) Certain banking facilities of one of the

Company’s subsidiaries were secured by

a property owned by Mr. Yip Heon Wai

(“Mr. Dennis Yip”) and Ms. Chan Fu

Kuen, Gladys (“Ms. Gladys Chan”) and

joint and several guarantees executed

by them. Mr. Dennis Yip and Ms. Gladys

Chan are directors of the Company.

(ii) The Group incurred a bank interest

expense for a bank loan drawn on behalf

of Mr. Dennis Yip and Ms. Gladys Chan

at no considerat ion under certain

banking facilities referred to in (i) above.
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5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The above security and personal guarantees

were released when the corresponding bank

loan was repaid prior to the listing of the

Company’s shares on the Growth Enterprise

Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

6. TURNOVER AND REVENUE

Turnover represents the net invoiced value of

goods sold, after allowance for returns and

trade discounts, business tax, where applicable,

and services rendered. All significant intra-

Group transactions have been eliminated on

consolidation.

An analysis of turnover and revenue is as

follows:

Group

�� 

Consolidated Pro forma combined

�� �� !

For the (Note 1)

period from �� 1�

22 November

1999 to For the For the

31 March year ended year ended

2000 31 March 31 March

���� 2000 1999

�� !�!" �� ��

��   ! ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Sale of goods and �� !"

services rendered �� ! 13,981 206,766 161,133

Turnover �� 13,981 206,766 161,133

Interest income �� ! 471 1,130 417

Revenue �� 14,452 207,896 161,550

RK �� !"#�� 
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7. PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The Group’s profit from operating activities is

arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Group

�� 

Consolidated Pro forma combined

�� �� !

For the (Note 1)

period from �� 1�

22 November

1999 to For the For the

31 March year ended year ended

2000 31 March 31 March

���� 2000 1999

�� !�!" �� ��

��   ! ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Depreciation: �� 

Owned fixed assets �� !"# 72 534 1,003

Leased fixed assets �� !"# – 80 241

72 614 1,244

Operating lease rentals in �� !"#$

respect of land �� !"

and buildings �� 222 2,668 2,743

Auditors’ remuneration �� !" 83 838 128

Staff costs �� !

(excluding pension �� !

contribution and �� !"#

directors’ remuneration �� !

(note 9)) �� 9�� 760 10,723 9,023

Pension contributions �� !" 11 410 20

Gain on disposal of �� !"#

fixed assets, net �� !"# – – (80)

TK �� !"#

�� !"#$%&'"()* (�

�� !"#$%&'
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8. FINANCE COSTS

Group

�� 

Consolidated Pro forma combined

�� �� !

For the (Note 1)

period from �� 1�

22 November

1999 to For the For the

31 March year ended year ended

2000 31 March 31 March

���� 2000 1999

�� !�!" �� ��

��   ! ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Interest on bank loan �� !"#$

wholly repayable �� !"

within five years �� !" 61 716 785

Interest on finance leases �� !"# – 29 36

61 745 821

The above interest on a bank loan was incurred

in respect of a bank loan drawn by the Group

on behalf of Mr. Dennis Yip and Ms. Gladys

Chan, as referred to in note 5 above.

UK �� !

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-
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VK �� !

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$ 161�� !"#$

�� !"#$

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration, disclosed pursuant to

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and Section

161 of the Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Group

�� 

Consolidated Pro forma combined

�� �� !

For the (Note 1)

period from �� 1�

22 November

1999 to For the For the

31 March year ended year ended

2000 31 March 31 March

���� 2000 1999

�� !�!" �� ��

��   ! ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Fees �� – – –

Other emoluments: �� !"

Basic salaries, other �� !"

allowances and �� !"

benefits in kind �� ! 335 2,098 1,201

Discretionary bonus �� ! – 310 –

335 2,408 1,201

The above remuneration does not include the

interest expense for a bank loan drawn on

behalf of Mr. Dennis Yip and Ms. Gladys Chan

under certain banking facilities, as referred to

in note 5 above.

�� !"#$%&'()�*+,

5�� !"#$%&'()*+,
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10. TAX

Group

�� 

Consolidated Pro forma combined

�� �� !

For the (Note 1)

period from �� 1�

22 November

1999 to For the For the

31 March year ended year ended

2000 31 March 31 March

���� 2000 1999

�� !�!" �� ��

��   ! ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Group: �� !

Hong Kong �� – 984 1,447

Elsewhere �� ! 55 840 797

55 1,824 2,244

Underprovision in �� !

prior years �� – – 248

Deferred tax – note 20 �� !"��20 355 355 –

Tax charge for the �� !"#

period/year �� ! 410 2,179 2,492

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at

the rate of 16% (1999: 16%) on the estimated

assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during

the period. Taxes on profi ts assessable

elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of

tax prevailing in the countries in which the

Group operates, based on existing legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Tax recoverable represents provisional tax paid

in excess of the estimated tax liability of the

Group.

NMK ��
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11. NET LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The net loss from ordinary activities attributable

to shareholders dealt with in the financial

statements of the Company for the period from

22 November 1999 (date of incorporation of

the  Company)  to  31  Mar ch 2000 was

HK$288,000.

12. DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the

Company since the date of its incorporation.

Group

�� 

Consolidated Pro forma combined

�� �� !

For the (Note 1)

period from �� 1�

22 November

1999 to For the For the

31 March year ended year ended

2000 31 March 31 March

���� 2000 1999

�� !�!" �� ��

��   ! ���� ���� 

��� !" ��� !" ��� !"

�� �� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Dividends paid by �� !"� 

the Company’s �� !"#

subsidiaries to their then �� !"#

shareholders prior to the �� !" 

listing of the Company �� – 20,000 13,000

– 20,000 13,000

NNK �� !"#$%&'

��   !"�#$"$%&'(

�� !"#$%&'((()*+
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share for

the period from 22 November 1999 (date of

incorporation of the Company) to 31 March

2000, together with the pro forma figures for

the year ended 31 March 2000, is based on the

following data:

Pro forma

Consolidated combined

�� �� !

For the (Note 1)

period from �� 1�

22 November

1999 to For the

31 March year ended

2000 31 March

���� 2000

�� !�!" ��

��   ! ���� 

��� !" ��� !"

�� �� 

HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� 

Earnings ��

Net profit attributable to �� !"#

shareholders, used in the �� !"

basic earnings per share �� !"#

calculation 3,420 32,236

Shares ��

Weighted average number �� !"#

of shares in issue for �� !"

the purpose of basic �� !"

earnings per share �� !"

calculation 258,320,549 426,885,246

NPK �� !
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

The weighted average number of shares used

to calculate both the consolidated earnings per

share for the period from 22 November 1999

to 31 March 2000 and the pro forma earnings

per share for the year ended 31 March 2000

include the pro forma issued share capital of

the Company, comprising 1,000,000 shares

issued on incorporation of the Company,

1,000,000 shar es issued as par t  of  the

consideration for the acquisition of the entire

issued share capital of Prosten (BVI), the

capitalisation issue of 423,000,000 shares as

further described in note 21 and the 86,250,000

shares issued during the public listing.

The calculation of the pro forma earnings per

share for the year ended 31 March 1999 is

based on the pro forma combined profit

attributable to shareholders of the Company of

HK$15,004,000 and on the pro forma weighted

average number of  shares  in i ssue of

425,000,000 during the year.

Diluted earnings per share for the period and

year ended 31 March 2000 and year ended 31

March 1999 have not been calculated because

no diluting events existed during these years.

NPK �� !�� 
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�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#
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14. FIXED ASSETS

Group

Office and

computer

equipment,

furniture

and fixtures

Leasehold �� !"# Motor

improvements �� !" vehicles Total

�� !"# �� !" �� ��

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� �� 

Cost: �� !

Arising on acquisition �� !"#

of subsidiaries �� 38 11,513 135 11,686

At 31 March 2000 ��   !

��� !" 38 11,513 135 11,686

Accumulated depreciation: �� !"

Provided during the period �� !" 23 46 3 72

At 31 March 2000 ��   !

��� !" 23 46 3 72

Net book value: �� !"

At 31 March 2000 ��   !

��� !" 15 11,467 132 11,614

NQK �� !

�� 

The net book value of the fixed assets of the

Group held under finance leases was nil as at

31 March 2000.

��   !"#"$%&'()*

�� !"#$%&'(!)&*+

�� !"#$
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15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2000

���� 

HK$’000

�� 

Unlisted shares, at cost �� !"#$% 27,445

Due from a subsidiary �� !"#$% 366,454

393,899

The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured,

interest- free and has no f ixed terms of

repayment.

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of

incorporation/

establishment Paid-up/

and operations registered Attributable

Company �� !" share capital equity interest Principal activities

�� �� !" �� !"#$ �� !"#$ �� !

Held directly:

�� !"

Prosten (BVI) Limited British Virgin US$21,025 100% Investment holding

Islands 21,025�� �� !

�� !"#

Held indirectly:

�� !"

Prosten Technology Co. Hong Kong Ordinary 100% Trading of computer

Limited HK$1,000,000 equipment, software

�� !"#$% �� �� development, system

1,000,000�� integration and system

development

consulting

�� !"#$

�� !"#$%&

�� !"#$

NRK �� !"#$%

�� 

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$%&'

�� !"#$%&'()
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19. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

There were obligations under finance leases at

the balance sheet date as follows:

Group

�� 

Pro forma

combined

(Note 1)

Consolidated �� !

�� �� 1�

2000 1999

���� ���� 

HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� 

Amounts payable: �� !"#$%&'()

Within one year �� – 193

Total minimum finance �� !"#$%

lease payments �� – 193

Future finance charges �� !"# – (29)

Total net finance lease payables �� !"#$%&' – 164

Portion classified as �� !"#

current liabilities �� – (164)

Non-current portion �� !" – –

NVK �� !"#$%

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

��
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20. DEFERRED TAX

The principal component of the Group’s

deferred tax liabilities comprised mainly of

accelerated capital allowances. The Group and

the Company did not have any significant

unprovided deferred tax liabilities at the

balance sheet date.

OMK �� !

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !

Pro forma

combined

(Note 1)

Consolidated �� !

�� �� 1�

2000 1999

���� ���� 

HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� 

Balance at beginning of �� 

period/year �� ! – 102

Arising on acquisition of �� !

subsidiaries �� ! 102 –

Charge for the period/year

(note 10) �� !"#$�� 10� 355 –

At 31 March �� �!"# 457 102
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21. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

2000

���� 

HK$’000

�� 

Authorised: �� !"

2,500,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each 2,500,000,000��� !0.10�� !" 250,000

Issued and fully paid: �� !"#$%&

511,250,000 shares of HK$0.10 each 511,250,000��� !0.10�� !" 51,125

The following changes in the Company’s

authorised and issued share capital took place

during the period from 22 November 1999 (date

of incorporation of the Company) to 31 March

2000:

(a) On incorporation, the authorised share

capital of the Company was HK$100,000

divided into 1,000,000 shares of HK$0.10

each. 999,999 shares were allotted and

issued nil paid and 1 share was allotted

and issued at par on 22 November 1999.

(b) On 7 March 2000, the authorised share

capital of the Company was increased

from HK$100,000 to HK$200,000 by the

creation of a further 1,000,000 shares of

HK$0.10 each. On the same day, the

authorised share capital of the Company

was further increased from HK$200,000

to HK$250,000,000 by the creation of a

further 2,498,000,000 shares of HK$0.10

each.

ONK ��

��

��   !"�#$"$%&'(

�� !"#$%&'((()*+

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$%&'(

(a) �� !"#$%&'()*

�� ! 100,000�� !"

1,000,000��� !0.10��

�� !"#$$$%&#'

��� !999,999��� !

�� !"#$%$&'()

� 1��� !"#$%&%

��

(b) ��   !"#$%&'(

�� 1,000,000��� !

0.10�� !"#$%& '(

� �  1 0 0 , 0 0 0� �  !

200,000�� !"#$%&'

2,498,000,000��� ! 0.10

�� !"#$%& '(!

� � 2 0 0 , 0 0 0� �  !

250,000,000�� 
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(c) On 7 March 2000,  as par t  of  the

Reorganisation described in note 1, the

Company (i) allotted and issued an

aggregate of 1,000,000 new shares of

HK$0.10 each credited as fully paid at

par and (ii) credited as fully paid at par

an aggregate of the 999,999 shares

allotted and issued nil paid as set out in

(a) above, in consideration and in

exchange for the acquisition of the entire

issued share capital of Prosten (BVI).

The excess of the fair value of the shares

of Prosten (BVI), determined on the

basis of the consolidated net assets of

Prosten (BVI) at that date, over the

nominal value of the Company’s shares

issued in exchange therefor, amounting

to HK$27,245,000, was credited to the

Company’s share premium account as

detailed in note 22 to the financial

statements.

(d) On 7 March 2000, a total of 423,000,000

shares of HK$0.10 each were allotted as

fully paid at par to the holders of the

shares on the register of members of

the Company in proportion to their

respective shareholdings at the close of

bus iness on that  date by way of

c a p i t a l i s a t i o n  o f  t h e  s u m  o f

HK$42,300,000 standing to the credit of

the share premium account of the

Company, conditional on the share

premium account being credited as a

result of the new share issue by way of

placement on 24 March 2000.

(e) On 24 March 2000, 75,000,000 shares of

HK$0.10 each were issued at HK$4.50

each to the public by way of placement

for a total cash consideration, before

expenses, of HK$337,500,000.

ONK ���� 

(c) ��   !"#$%&'(

��1�� !" #$%&

�� !" (i) �� !"#"

�� 1,000,000��� !

0.10�� !"#$%&'(

�� (ii)�� !"#$%&

�� 999,999��� !"#

�Prosten (BVI) �� !"#

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� (a) �� !"Prosten

(BVI) �� !"#$%&'

��Prosten (BVI)�� !"

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !" #$%&'()

27,245,000�� !"#$%&

�� 22�� !"#$%&

�� !

(d) ��   !"#$%&'(

�� !"#$%&'()

42,300,000�� !"#$%&

�� !"#� $%&'(

�� !�"#$%&'()

�� !"#$423,000,000�

�� !0.10�� !"#$%

�� !"#$%&&&'(

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !"#$%"&'()

�� !"#

(e) ��   !"#�$%&'

�� !"#$%4.50�� !

�� !"#$%75,000,000

��� !"#$%&'()

�� 337,500,000�� 



Notes to Financial Statements
31 March 2000 � �  ! " #

���� !"!#$%

64 �� !"#$%&' 1999/2000 ��

21. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(f) On 24 March 2000, pursuant to the

over-a l lo tment  ar rangement ,  the

Company further issued 11,250,000

shares of HK$0.10 each at HK$4.50 each

for a total cash consideration, before

expenses, of HK$50,625,000.

A summary of the above movements in the

issued share capital of the Company is as

follows:

Number of

shares issued Par value

�� !"#$ ��

HK$’000

�� 

Share allotted and issued at �� !"#$%&'

par on incorporation �� �!"#$ 1 –

Shares allotted and issued �� !"#$%

nil paid on incorporation �� !"#$%&

and subsequently credited �� !"#$%&

as fully paid at par for the Prosten (BVI)�� 

acquisition of the entire �� !"#$%

issued share capital of �� !"#

Prosten (BVI) �� 999,999 100

Shares issued as consideration �� !"#

for the acquisition of the Prosten (BVI) ��

entire issued share capital �� !"#$

of Prosten (BVI) �� 1,000,000 100

Shares issued and credited as �� !"#$%&

fully paid conditional on �� !"#

the share premium account �� !"#

of the Company being �� !"#

credited as a result of the �� !"

subsequent share placement 423,000,000 –

New issue to public by way �� !"#$%&

of placement �� ! 75,000,000 7,500

Shares issued on �� !"#$%&

over-allotment �� !" 11,250,000 1,125

Capitalisation of the share

premium account as set �� !"#$%

out above �� ! – 42,300

Share capital as at ��   !"#

31 March 2000 �� !"#$ 511,250,000 51,125

ONK ���� 

(f) ��   !"#�$"%&

�� !"#$%&'()*

��4.50�� !"#$%&'

11,250,000��� ! 0.10�

�� !"#$%&'�()

�� !50,625,000�� 

�� !"#$%& '()*�+

��
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The comparative Company share capital as at

31 March 1999 as shown on the pro forma

combined balance sheet represented the

aggregate nominal value of the share capital

of the Company’s subsidiaries as at that date.

Share options

Under the terms of the share option scheme

(the “Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 7

March 2000, conditional upon the listing of

the Company’s shares, the directors of the

Company are authorised at their absolute

discretion, to invite any employee, including

any executive director of the Company or any

of its subsidiaries, to take up options to

subscribe for shares of the Company. The

subscription price will be determined by the

directors, but may not be less than the highest

of the closing price of the shares on the GEM

of the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant

of the option or the average of the closing

price of the shares on the GEM of the Stock

Exchange for the five trading days immediately

preceding the date of the offer of grant of the

option or the nominal value of the shares. The

maximum number of shares in respect of which

options may be granted under the share option

scheme may not exceed, in nominal amount,

10% of the issued share capital of the Company

from time-to-time which have been duly

allotted and issued. The Scheme became

effective for a period of ten years commencing

on the listing of the Company’s shares. Further

detai ls of the Scheme ar e noted in the

Company’s prospectus dated 21 March 2000.

No share options had been allotted under the

Scheme as at 31 March 2000.

ONK ���� 

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

���� ! "#$%&'%()

�� !"#$%&"#'()*+

�� !"

�� 

�� !"#$%%%&'()*+

�� !"#$%&'#$()�*+,

�� !"#$%&'� !()*

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$%&� '#$()

�� !"#$%&'()*+%)

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-.

�� !�"#$%&'()*+,

�� !"#$%&'()&*+,

�� !"#$�%&#'()*+

�� !"#$%&'�()*+,

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-&

�� !"#�$%&'() *+

�� !"#$%&'&()*&(

�� !10%�� !"#$%&'(

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-&

�� !"#$%&#'((()*

�� !"#$%&'()*+�,

��� ! "#$%&'()*+

�� !"#$%&'()
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22. RESERVES

Group

Share

premium Retained

account earnings Total

�� !" �� ! ��

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Issue of shares (note 21) �� !�� 21� 379,500 – 379,500

Capitalisation issue �� !"

of shares (note 21) ���� 21� (42,300) – (42,300)

Shares issued as consideration �� !"#

for the acquisition of the Prosten (BVI)��

entire issued share capital �� !"#$

of Prosten (BVI) (note 21) �� �� 21� (200) – (200)

Arising on acquisition of �� !"#

subsidiaries (note 21) ���� 21� 27,445 – 27,445

Share issue expenses �� !"# (25,170) – (25,170)

Net profit for the period �� ! – 3,420 3,420

At 31 March 2000 ��   !

��� !" 339,275 3,420 342,695

OOK ��

�� 
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22. RESERVES (continued)

Share

premium Accumulated

Company account loss Total

�� �� !" �� ! ��

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� �� 

Shares issued as consideration �� !"#

for the acquisition of the Prosten (BVI)��

entire issued share capital �� !"#$%

of Prosten (BVI) (note 21) ���� 21� (200) – (200)

Arising on acquisition of �� !"#

subsidiaries (note 21) ���� 21� 27,445 – 27,445

Issue of shares (note 21) �� !�� 21� 379,500 – 379,500

Capitalisation issue of shares �� !"#$

(note 21) �� 21� (42,300) – (42,300)

Share issue expenses �� !"# (25,170) – (25,170)

Loss for the period �� ! – (288) (288)

At 31 March 2000 ��   !"#

�� ! 339,275 (288) 338,987

OOK ���� 

(a) The share premium account of the

Company includes (i) shares issued at

premium and (ii) the difference between

the nominal value of the shares of the

Company issued in exchange for the

issued share capital of the subsidiaries

and the value of the underlying net

assets of the subsidiaries at the date they

were acquired by the Company. Under

the Companies Law (1998 Revision) of

the Cayman Islands, the share premium

accoun t  i s  d i s t r i bu t ab l e  to  the

shareholders of the Company provided

that immediately following the date on

which the dividend is proposed to be

distributed, the Company will be in a

position to pay off its debts as they fall

due in the ordinary course of business.

(a) �� !"#$%&'((i) �

�� !"#$%&(ii) �� 

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !�"#$%&'&(

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !"#$%&''()

�� )�� !"#$%&'

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !"#$%&!"'
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22. RESERVES (continued)

(b) At 31 March 2000, in the opinion of the

directors, the reserves of the Company

available for distribution to shareholders

amounted to HK$338,987,000, subject to

the restrictions stated in note 22(a)

above.

23. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT

(a) Reconci l ia t ion of  prof i t  f rom

operating activities to net cash inflow

from operating activities

OOK ���� 

(b) ��   !"#"$%&'

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !" 338,987,000�� 

�� !"#$22(a)�� !

�� 

OPK �� !"#$%&

E~F �� !"#$�� !%&

�� !"#$%&

Period from

22 November 1999

(date of incorporation

of the Company) to

31 March 2000

���� !�"

��� !"#$

�� !"#$%

���� !"

�� !"#$

HK$’000

�� 

Profit from operating activities �� !"# 3,891

Interest income �� ! (471)

Depreciation �� 72

Increase in trade receivables �� !"# (11,743)

Decrease in bills receivable �� !"# 189

Decrease in prepayments, �� !"#$%

deposits and other receivables �� !"#$% 8,935

Decrease in amount due �� !"#

from a director 1,621

Increase in trade payables �� !"# 3,670

Increase in bills payable �� !"# 471

Decrease in accrued liabilities, �� !"

deposits received and �� !"#$

other payables �� !"# (4,904)

Net cash inflow from �� !"#$

operating activities �� ! 1,731
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23. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT (continued)

(b) Analysis of changes in financing

during the period

Share Interest-

capital bearing

and share bank

premium loan

�� �!"# �� !"#

HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� 

Proceeds from shares issued �� !"#$%

on initial public offering �� !"#$% 388,125 –

Arising on acquisition of �� !"#

subsidiaries �� 27,445 7,266

Share issue expenses �� !"# (25,170) –

Settled by the director �� !"# – (7,266)

At 31 March 2000 ��   !"#

�� ! 390,400 –

OPK �� !"#$%&�� 

EÄF �� !"#$%&
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23. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT (continued)

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries

2000

���� 

HK$’000

�� 

Net assets acquired: �� !"#$

Fixed assets �� ! 11,686

Inventories �� 2,645

Trade receivables �� ! 49,034

Bills receivable �� ! 4,018

Prepayments, deposits �� !"#$%

and other receivables �� !"# 12,909

Tax recoverable �� !" 27

Due from a director �� ! 8,887

Cash and bank balances �� !"#$ 13,366

Trade payables, accrued �� !"�#$%"

liabilities, deposits �� !"

received and other �� !

payables �� (48,981)

Bills payable �� ! (16,264)

Tax payable �� ! (2,514)

Interest-bearing bank �� �!"#$%

loan, secured (7,266)

Deferred tax �� ! (102)

27,445

Share premium (note 22) �� !"��22� (27,245)

200

Satisfied by: �� !"

Issue of shares �� ! 200

OPK �� !"#$%&�� 

EÅF �� !"#
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23. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT (continued)

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

Analysis of the net inflow of cash and

cash equivalents in respect of the

acquisition of subsidiaries:

2000

���� 

HK$’000

�� 

Cash and bank balances �� !"

acquired �� ! 13,366

Net inflow of cash and �� !"#$

cash equivalents in �� !"#

respect of the acquisition �� !"#$

of subsidiaries �� 13,366

OPK �� !"#$%&�� 

EÅF �� !"#�� 

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !"#$%&'()

The subsidiaries acquired during the

period contributed HK$1,731,000 to the

Group’s net operating cash inflow and

received HK$410,000 in respect of the

net returns on investments and servicing

of finance.

(d) Major non-cash transactions

(i) The  cons ide ra t i on  fo r  the

purchase of subsidiaries during

the period was settled by the

issuing of the Company’s shares.

Further details of the acquisition

are set out in note (c) above.

(ii) During the period, the balance

due from a director was fully

settled by way of repayment of a

bank loan by the director, as

detailed in note 5 above.

�� !"#$%&'()*

��1,731,000�� !"#$

�� !"#$%&'()*

�� !"#410,000�� 

EÇF �� !"#$

(i) �� !"#$%&'

�� !"#$%&'

�� !"#$%&'(

�� !(c)�

(ii) �� !"#$%&'(

�� !"#$%&'

�� !"#$%&'

�� !5��
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24. BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2000, the Group’s banking

facilities were secured by fixed deposits in the

aggregate amount of HK$10,766,000 and

corporate guarantees given by the Company

and certain subsidiaries of the Company.

At 31 March 2000, the banking facilities utilised

by the Group amounted to approximately

HK$23,088,000.

25. COMMITMENTS

Group

�� 

Pro forma

combined

(Note 1)

Consolidated �� !

�� �� 1�

2000 1999

���� ���� 

HK$’000 HK$’000

�� �� 

Annual commitments payable �� !"#

in the following year under �� !"

non-cancellable operating �� !"#$

leases in respect of land �� !"#

and buildings expiring: �� !"

Within one year �� 1,201 403

In the second to fifth �� �!"

years, inclusive �� !"#$% 894 1,313

2,095 1,716

The Company had no commitments at the

balance sheet date.

OQK �� !

��   !"#"$%&'()*

�� !"#$%& 10,766,000��

�� !"#$%&'(%&')*

�� !"#$%&'()*

��   !"#"$%&'()*

�� !"#$%&'(23,088,000

�� 

ORK ��

�� !"#$%&'()*+,
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26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any signif icant

contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date.

The Company has given corporate guarantees

in favour of certain banks to the extent of

HK$15,480,000 in respect of banking facilities

granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company.

27. LITIGATION

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

has been involved in certain claims filed by

suppliers for the alleged breach of contractual

duties. After reviewing the merits of the claims

with legal counsel, the directors believe that

adequate provision for any liability which might

arise therefrom has already been made in the

financial statements.

28. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate

holding company of the Company at the

balance sheet date was The New Millennium

Trus t  th rough i t s  u l t ima te  bene f i c i a l

shareholding in Greenford Company Limited,

Century Technology Holding Limited and

Bakersfield Global Corporation.

29. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

On 29 May 2000, 21,633,000 share options were

of fered to executive directors and certain

employees of the Group under the Company’s

share option scheme as detailed in note 21

above. The options are exercisable at HK$1.52

per share prior to 28 May 2010.

30. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the

board of directors on 29 June 2000.

OSK �� !

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� 

�� !"#�� $%&'� (

� �  ! " # $ % � � & '

15,480,000�� !"#$%

OTK ��

�� !"#$%&'(� )*+

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"#

OUK �� !"#

�� !"#$The New Millennium

Trus t� � Green fo rd  Company

Limited�Century Technology Holding

L im i t e d� Bake r s f i e l d  G l ob a l

Corporation�� !"#$%&'(

�� The New Millennium Trust�

�� !"#$%� &

OVK �� !"#

��   !"#�$%&'()*

�� !"#$%&'()*+,

21�� !"#$%&'()*+,-

�� !"21,633,000��� !"#

�� !"#$%$&'(#)*+

�� ! 1.52�� !"#$%

PMK �� !"#$

�� !"###$%&"'()*

�� !"#



Notice of Annual General Meeting
� �  ! " # $ %

74 �� !"#$%&' 1999/2000 ��

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an Annual General

Meeting of the members of Prosten Technology

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held at

Coral Room, 3/F., Furama Hotel Hong Kong, One

Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong on Friday, 28

July 2000 at 10:30 a.m. for the following purposes:

1. To r ece ive  and cons ider  the  Audi ted

Consolidated Financial Statements and the

Reports of the Directors and of the Auditors

for the period from 22 November 1999 (date

of incorporation of the Company) to 31 March

2000;

2. To re-elect Directors and to authorise the Board

to fix the Directors’ remuneration;

3. To re-appoint Auditors and to authorise the

Board to fix their remuneration;

4. To consider as Special Business and, if thought

fit, pass with or without amendments, the

following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT

(a) sub jec t  to  paragraph (b)  of  th i s

Resolution, the exercise by the Directors

of the Company during the Relevant

Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the

powers of the Company to purchase

ordinary shares in the capital of the

Company on the Growth Enterprise

Market ( the “GEM”) of The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Stock Exchange”) or on any other stock

exchange on which the securities of the

Company may be listed and recognised

by  t h e  S e cu r i t i e s  and  Fu t u r e s

Commission and the Stock Exchange for

th i s  purpose ,  sub jec t  to  and in

accordance with all applicable laws and

the requirements of the Rules Governing

the Listing of Securities on the GEM of

the Stock Exchange or any other stock

exchange as amended from time to time,

be and i s  hereby genera l ly  and

unconditionally approved;
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(b) the total nominal amount of shares to

be purchased pursuant to the approval

in paragraph (a) above shall not exceed

10% of the total nominal amount of the

share capital of the Company in issue

on the date of this Resolution and the

sa id  app rova l  sha l l  be  l im i t ed

accordingly; and

(c) for the purpose of this Resolution,

“Relevant Period” means the period from

the passing of this Resolution until

whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual

General Meeting of the Company;

(ii) the revocation or variation of the

au thor i t y  g iven under  th i s

Resolution by Ordinary Resolution

of the shareholders in general

meetings; or

(iii) the expirat ion of the period

within which the next Annual

General Meeting of the Company

is required by the Articles of

Association of the Company or

any applicable laws to be held.”;

5. To consider as Special Business and, if thought

fit, pass with or without amendments, the

following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT

(a) Subject to the following provisions of

this Resolution, pursuant to the Rules

Governing the Listing of Securities on

the Growth Enterprise Market of The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,

the exercise by the Directors of the

Company during the Relevant Period (as

hereinafter defined) of all the powers
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of the Company to allot, issue and deal

with additional shares in the capital of

the Company and to make or grant

offers, agreements and options which

would or might require the exercise of

such powers be and is hereby generally

and unconditionally approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) of this

Resolution shall be in addition to any

other authorisation given to the Directors

of the Company and shall authorise the

Directors of the Company during the

Relevant Period to make or grant offers,

agreements and options which would

or might require the exercise of such

powers during or after the end of the

Relevant Period;

(c) the aggregate nominal amount of share

capital allotted or agreed conditionally

or uncondi t ional ly to be al lot ted

(whether pursuant to an option or

otherwise); or by the Directors of the

Company pursuant to the approval in

paragraph (a) of this Resolut ion,

otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights

Issue where shares are of fered to

shareholders on a fixed record date in

proportion to their then holdings of

shares (subject to such exclusions or

other arrangements as the Directors may

deem necessary or expedient in relation

to fractional entitlements or having

regard to any restrictions or obligations

under the laws of, or the requirements

of any recognised regulatory body or

any stock exchange in any territory

outside Hong Kong); or (ii) any option

scheme or similar arrangement for the

time being adopted for the grant or issue

to officers and/or employees of the

Company and/or any of its subsidiaries

of shares or rights to acquire shares in
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the capital of the Company; or (iii) any

scrip dividend or similar arrangement

providing for the allotment of shares in

lieu of the whole or part of a dividend

on shares of the Company in accordance

with the Articles of Association of the

Company, shall not exceed 20 per cent

of the aggregate nominal amount of the

share capital of the Company in issue

as at the date of the passing of this

Resolution and the said approval shall

be limited accordingly; and

(d) for the purpose of this Resolution,

“Relevant Period” means the period from

the passing of this Resolution until

whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual

General Meeting of the Company;

(ii) the revocation or variation of the

au thor i t y  g iven under  th i s

Resolution by Ordinary Resolution

of the shareholders in general

meetings; or

(iii) the expirat ion of the period

within which the next Annual

General Meeting of the Company

is required by the Articles of

Association of the Company or

any applicable laws to be held.”;

and

6. To consider as Special Business and, if thought

fit, pass with or without amendments, the

following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT the general mandate granted to the

Directors of  the Company pursuant to

Resolution 5 above and for the time being in

force to exercise the powers of the Company

to allot shares and to make or grant offers,
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agreements and options which might require

the exercise of such powers be and is hereby

extended by the total nominal amount of shares

in the capital of the Company repurchased by

the Company since the granting of a general

mandate to the Directors of the Company to

exercise the powers of the Company to

purchase such shares, provided that such

amount shall not exceed 10% of the total

nominal amount of the share capital of the

Company in i ssue on the date of  th is

Resolution.”

By Order of the Board

Chan Yim Kum

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 29 June 2000

Notes:

(a) The Register of Members of the Company will be

closed from Monday, 24 July 2000 to Friday, 28 July

2000, both days inclusive, during which period no

transfer of shares can be registered. In order to

qualify for attending the Meeting convened by the

above notice, all transfers accompanied by the

relevant share certificates must be lodged with the

Company’s Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong,

Tengis Limited at 4th Floor Hutchison House, 10

Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong not later than

4:00 p.m. on Friday, 21 July 2000.

(b) A member of the Company entitled to attend and

vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint more than

one proxy to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy

need not be a member of the Company. If more

than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment

shall specify the number and class of shares in

respect of which each such proxy is so appointed.
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(c) The instrument appointing a proxy and the power

of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it

is signed, or a notarially certified copy of such power

or authority, must be lodged with the Company’s

Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tengis Limited

at 4th Floor, Hutchison House, 10 Harcourt Road,

Central, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before

the time fixed for holding the Meeting.

(d) An explanatory statement sett ing out further

information regarding Resolutions 4 to 6 above will

be despatched to members with the 2000 Annual

Report.
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